No. 71054-1-I King County Superior Court No. 13-2-14928-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

CHRISTOPHER PIRIS, Appellant,

v.

ALFRED KITCHING, et al., Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Richard D. Eadie, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Appellant 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291 2014 FEB 14 PM 1: 26

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in concluding that, in a case alleging malpractice only at sentencing, the plaintiff must first establish that he was "actually innocent" of the criminal charges charges.

II. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Where a criminal defense attorney's error at sentencing results in the client serving 13 months in excess of the correct sentence, must the client establish his "actual innocence" of the crime before suing his attorney?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Piris pled guilty to first degree rape of a child. The crime was alleged to have occurred when Piris was 13 years old. The victim was Piris's 10-year-old stepbrother. CP 175-187. Respondent Albert Kitching worked for the Society of Counsel for Accused Persons (SCRAP). He represented Piris in the Superior Court. CP 186, 191.

Piris committed the offense while a juvenile, but charges were not filed until after he turned 18. CP 238. At his initial sentencing, defense counsel pointed out that if Piris had been convicted as a juvenile, his

standard range would have been "up to 100 weeks" in detention. CP 239. Defense counsel argued that Piris's age at the time of the offense and the delay in reporting constituted mitigating factors. CP 240. The original sentencing judge did not find a basis to go below the standard range. But, after hearing the presentations of the State and defense, the judge said:

What I am going to do, however, is I am going to sentence you to the bottom of the standard range which is...159 months.

CP 69. Unfortunately, the parties miscalculated that sentencing range as 159 to 211 months. CP 45. The correct sentencing range was 146 to 194 months.

Piris appealed. Eric Nielsen of Nielsen, Broman and Koch represented Piris in this Court. In the appeal, after persuasively pointing out the error in the standard range, Mr. Nielsen urged a remand for resentencing. He wrote:

If the trial court had understood the standard range to be 146 to 194 months, it seems likely that it would have imposed the bottom of the range -146 months.

CP 88.

On February 14, 2000, this Court reversed, in a per curiam opinion, the improperly calculated sentence. CP 193-194. That opinion states:

Piris asks that his sentence be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing. The State concedes that Piris is entitled to be sentenced under the 1993 statute and agrees the case should be remanded for resentencing. We have reversed the record and find the State's concession is well taken.

CP 194.

Piris's sentence was vacated and the case was remanded for resentencing. According to Piris, he never heard from Nielsen regarding the reversal. His case was never set for resentencing. As a result, Piris served all 159 months.

In May 2012, Piris was summoned to the King County Superior Court for a probation violation. In reviewing the file, the new sentencing judge¹ realized that the sentence had been vacated and Piris had never been resentenced. He then sentenced Piris to 146 months in jail. CP 199. No one appealed or challenged this new sentence.

Piris then sued both his trial and appellate lawyers alleging negligence. CP 151-155.

The lawyers moved for summary judgment on two grounds. First, they argued that Piris could not sue because he cannot "prove his actual innocence of the charges." Second, they argued there was no claim because Piris was sentenced "within the lawful range that could be

3

¹ The original sentencing judge had retired by that time.

imposed for the crimes he committed." CP 221-225.² The trial court granted the motion stating: "the basis for the dismissal is the 'actual innocence' requirement as set out in *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 483-484, 114 P.3d 637 (2005)." CP 249. This timely appeal followed. CP 263-64.

IV. ARGUMENT

The "issue of guilt or innocence is relevant, if the client's complaint is the fact of conviction, *rather than the severity of the sentence* or other consequences." 771 R. Mallen & J. Smith, *Legal Malpractice* § 26.13 (2007 Edition) (emphasis added).³ But "actual innocence" is "not relevant if the attorney's error concerns the extent or severity of the

² Judge Eadie did not address this argument and the defendants did not cross-appeal. But the defendants are collaterally estopped from arguing that the initial sentence of 159 months was the "lawful" sentence in this case. The "lawful" sentence in this case is the one imposed on May 7, 2012. See Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC, 316 P.3d 1119 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 21, 2014) (setting forth elements of collateral estoppel). Moreover, both attorneys took the position that that the 159 month sentence was not the lawful sentence in all of the previous proceedings.

³ Mallen and Smith have frequently been cited with approval by the appellate courts of this state. See, e.g., Hipple v. McFadden, 161 Wn. App. 550, 255 P.3d 730, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1009, 259 P.3d 1108 (2011); Shoemake ex rel. Guardian v. Ferrer, 168 Wn.2d 193, 200, 225 P.3d 990 (2010); Lavigne v. Chase, Haskell, Hayes & Kalamon, P.S., 112 Wn. App. 677, 683, 50 P.3d 306, 309 (2002); Simburg, Ketter, Sheppard & Purdy, L.L.P. v. Olshan, 97 Wn. App. 901, 109 Wn. App. 436, 988 P.2d 467 (1999), amended on denial of reconsideration, 33 P.3d 742, review granted, 141 Wn.2d 1001, 10 P.3d 404 (2000).

sentence." *Id.* Thus, where, as here, a plaintiff alleges that his attorney's negligence resulted in a sentencing error, he has met his initial burden if he alleges: (i) that defendant's negligence resulted in a legally impermissible sentence, and (ii) that he obtained post-conviction sentencing relief. *Id.* This Court has adopted this sound principle in *Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused (Powell I)*, 125 Wn. App. 773, 106 P.3d 271, *review granted, cause remanded*, 155 Wn.2d 1024, 123 P.3d 120 (2005) and *Powell v. Associated Counsel for the Accused, (Powell II)*, 131 Wn. App. 810, 129 P.3d 831 (2006), *opinion adhered to on reconsideration*.

Powell pleaded guilty to solicitation to deliver a material in lieu of a controlled substance, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(c). The offense was a gross misdemeanor, for which the maximum term of confinement is one year. But at the sentencing hearing, Powell was erroneously sentenced for a Class C felony to 38.25 months of confinement. Powell obtained post-conviction relief from this Court and the erroneous sentence was corrected. He was subsequently released after serving 20 months.

Powell promptly sued his lawyers. The trial court dismissed the legal malpractice action and he appealed. But this Court reversed, concluding that even though, in some cases, a criminal defendant must demonstrate actual innocence in order to recover damages against his

criminal defense lawyer, sentencing malpractice cases did not include such a requirement. This Court said:

Although we have no particular quarrel with the innocence requirement generally, we agree with Powell that its application in this case is unfair. And we observe that postconviction relief, in this instance, has not entirely provided Powell with what competent representation arguably should have afforded in the first instance. Powell has served substantially more time than the trial court was authorized to impose for a gross misdemeanor. We conclude that blind application of the innocence requirement to the facts of this case would go beyond the public policy to be served by the innocence requirement.

The policy to be served is that regardless of the attorney's negligence, a guilty defendant's conviction and sentence are the direct result of his own perfidy, and no one should be permitted to take advantage of his own wrong. But "an innocent person wrongfully convicted due to inadequate representation has suffered a compensable injury because in that situation the nexus between the malpractice and palpable harm is sufficient to warrant a civil action, however inadequate, to redress the loss."

Powell's situation is closer to that of an innocent person wrongfully convicted than of a guilty person attempting to take advantage of his own wrongdoing. Powell has no quarrel with having been incarcerated for the period of time justified by the gross misdemeanor that he pleaded guilty to having committed. In sum, we decline to extend the innocence requirement to these facts, for to do so would not serve the public policy

Powell I, 125 Wn. App. at 777-78 (internal citations omitted).

The lawyers in *Powell* sought review in the Washington State

Supreme Court just before that Court issued its decision in *Ang v. Martin*,

supra. The Washington Supreme Court entered a brief order granting

review and remanding for consideration in light of *Ang. Powell v.*Associated Counsel for Accused, 155 Wn.2d 1024, 123 P.3d 120 (2005).

On remand, this Court reiterated its previous position. The Court said:

Because the reasons articulated in *Ang* for requiring a plaintiff to prove his innocence as part of a legal malpractice claim are not applicable in Powell's situation, we reaffirm our prior opinion.

Powell II, 131 Wn. App. at 811. Again, the Court stated that none of the policy concerns that mandated the adoption of the "innocence" requirement in Ang were present in a case where the client's only argument was that trial counsel's negligence resulted in the client serving a sentence longer than that ultimately imposed in the case.

In *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 813, the Court reasoned that our state Supreme Court cases imposing an "innocence" requirement – including *Ang v. Martin* – stemmed from the defendants' representation during the guilt or innocence phase of the plaintiffs' criminal trials. In contrast, Powell did not contest his guilt, and the allegations of malpractice stemmed entirely from his attorneys' failure to object to the court sentencing him to a much longer sentence than allowed by law. This Court reasoned that the justifications for requiring proof of actual

innocence do not apply in an action complaining about the severity of the sentence.

This case is indistinguishable from *Powell I and II*. In the *Powell* cases, this Court held that because Powell served more than the maximum sentence for the crime he committed, harm caused by his unlawful restraint was not the direct consequence of his own bad act. The harm was caused by his lawyers' failure to properly ascertain the correct sentence.

The same is true here. Piris served the illegal sentence of 159 months. The additional 13 months he served was due, not to his behavior, but to errors committed by his lawyers.

In *Powell*, this Court noted that Powell's legal malpractice action did not discount or compete with the procedural protections afforded the criminal justice system. Powell secured his release from unlawful restraint using criminal justice procedures. But the criminal justice system provided him no remedy for the harm suffered by serving eight months longer than the crime required. *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 814.

The same is true here. Piris filed a notice of appeal and his sentence was corrected by this Court. But because of the failures of his attorneys, both in miscalculating his standard range initially and in failing to reset the matter for resentencing once the unlawful sentence was

vacated, Piris suffered by serving 13 months longer than his crime required.

In *Powell II*, this Court said that Powell's complaint was not that he simply "could have gotten a better deal." *Powell II*, 131 Wn. App. at 814. Powell was entitled to be lawfully sentenced.

The same is true here. Piris was entitled to be lawfully sentenced.

This Court recognized that when it reversed and remanded his case for a new sentencing hearing.

As with *Powell*, Piris's lawsuit will not have a chilling effect on the defense bar. Presumably, there are few cases where an illegal sentence is reversed on appeal where that reversal goes unnoticed by any of the lawyers and the Court for 12 years. To the contrary, Piris's suit will remind the defense bar, the prosecution and the Superior Court to be mindful of the fact that their mistakes can result in significant harm to people – even those sentenced to lengthy prison terms.

Finally, in Powell II, 131 Wn. App. at 815 this court said:

[R]ecognizing a limited exception to the rule requiring proof of actual innocence should not cause a flood of nuisance litigation. The highly unusual alleged facts of this case, whereby an alleged egregious error by defense counsel allowed a defendant to be sentenced to a term substantially longer than the maximum term allowed by statute, and the defendant actually served time in prison beyond the correct maximum term, are not likely to occur with any frequency.

The same is true in this case. It is highly unusual for a criminal defendant to be sentenced erroneously, receive relief, but be denied a timely resentencing in the trial court. Despite the errors in this case, this sort of failure is not likely to occur with any frequency. But, because it did happen to Piris – through no fault of his own – he is entitled to sue those responsible for his damages.

Judge Eadie was simply incorrect as a matter of law when he dismissed this case on summary judge by citing to Ang v. Martin. This Court clearly said in the Powell cases that Ang has no application to a legal malpractice claim where the client alleges that his attorney's negligence resulted in a sentencing error, that lawyer's negligence resulted in a legally impermissible sentence and the client obtained post-conviction sentencing relief.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons argued above, this Court should reverse the summary judgment order dismissing Piris's claims of attorney malpractice.