NO. 71054-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER PIRIS,

Appellant.

v.

ALFRED KITCHING and JANE DOE KITCHING, husband and wife and their marital community; SOCIETY OF COUNSEL REPRESENTING ACCUSED PERSONS (SCRAP); ERIC NIELSEN and JANE DOE NIELSEN, husband and wife and their marital community; NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH P.L.L.C.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS NIELSEN AND NIELSEN BROMAN & KOCH, P.L.L.C.

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625
jpd@leesmart.com
Rosemary J. Moore, WSBA No. 28650
rjm@leesmart.com
Of Attorneys for Respondents
Nielsen and Nielsen, Broman & Koch PLLC

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The superior court properly dismissed Mr. Piris's complaint of legal malpractice because there is no evidence that Mr. Piris were innocent of the crimes for which he was convicted; nor does he claim that he was innocent of those crimes. Therefore, he cannot meet all the essential elements that a plaintiff must prove in a legal malpractice claim arising out of criminal proceedings. As a matter of public policy under Washington law, a criminal's own conduct, not that of his defense attorneys, is the cause of his damage, and his malpractice complaint must be dismissed. *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 483-484, 114 P.3d 637 (2005); *Falkner v. Foshaug*, 108 Wn. App. 113, 118, 29 P.3d 771 (2001); *Owens v. Harrison*, 120 Wn. App. 909, 915, 86 P.3d 1266 (2004).

Contrary to Mr. Piris's assertion his case does not fall within the narrow exception carved out in *Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused*, 131 Wn. App. 810, 129 P.3d 831 (2006,) because his sentence was less than the maximum sentence that could lawfully be imposed for his crimes. It was also within the standard sentencing guidelines for those offenses.

The out-of-state authority that Mr. Piris cites relies on cases from jurisdictions which do not require proof of actual innocence, where the sentence imposed exceeded the maximum that could be legally imposed, or where actual innocence was not raised as a defense. Out-of-state courts

that require actual innocence have, like Washington, applied the rule to errors affecting sentence.

Mr. Piris is an offender who claims he should have "gotten a better deal." As such, his claim falls squarely within the policy reasons why Washington law bars his malpractice claims.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court correctly dismissed Mr. Piris's claim of legal malpractice in a criminal case because Mr. Piris could not assert or prove his actual innocence.

An appellate court engages in *de novo* review of an order of summary judgment. *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 261, 956 P.2d 312 (1998). The court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of Mr. Piris's complaint because Mr. Piris cannot prove an essential element of his claim of legal malpractice, namely, his actual innocence of the crime of which he was convicted.

It is well settled in Washington that where the alleged legal malpractice occurred in a criminal matter, the client must prove both post-conviction relief **and** his actual innocence. *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d at 483-84; *Falkner v. Foshaug*, 108 Wn. App. at 118; *Owens v. Harrison*, 120 Wn. App. at 915.

Because it is undisputed that Mr. Piris was guilty of the crimes of which he was convicted and for which he was sentenced, the trial court correctly dismissed his claim as a matter of law. CP 21-24.

This was an appropriate issue for summary judgment because there are no disputed material facts; this is purely an issue of law that should be determined by the court.

B. As a matter of public policy, Washington courts hold that a criminal's own bad acts are the proximate cause of the alleged harm.

As a matter of public policy, Washington courts hold that a criminal's "own bad acts, not the alleged negligence of defense counsel, should be regarded as the cause in fact of their harm." *Ang*, 154 Wn.2d at 485. "[P]roving actual innocence, not simply legal innocence, is essential to proving proximate causation, both cause in fact and legal causation." *id.* at 484 (quoting *Falkner*, 108 Wn. App. at 115); *see also Owens*, 120 Wn. App. at 913.

Thus, the sentence Mr. Piris served had "everything to do with" his own criminal conduct. A defense attorney's negligence is not "the cause of the former client's injury as a matter of law, unless the plaintiff former client proves that he did not commit the crime." *Falkner*, 108 Wn. App. at 120. "The public policy behind this requirement is that 'regardless of the attorney's negligence, a guilty defendant's conviction and sentence are the direct consequence of his own perfidy,' and thus, cannot be the basis for civil damages." *Id*.

In Ang, 154 Wn.2d at 480, the criminal defendants the Angs were acquitted on all counts of fraud; in their later legal-malpractice claim the jury found they had failed to prove their actual innocence of all the criminal charges against them.

The Washington Supreme Court emphasized that "[u]nless criminal malpractice plaintiffs can prove by a preponderance of the evidence their actual innocence of the charges, their own bad acts, not the alleged negligence of defense counsel, should be regarded as the cause in fact of their harm." *Id.* sat 485. "Likewise, if criminal malpractice plaintiffs cannot prove their actual innocence under the civil standard, they will be unable to establish, in light of significant public policy considerations, that the alleged negligence of their defense counsel was the legal cause of their harm." *Id.*

The Ang Court quoted with approval the five policy concerns articulated in Falkner. "[R]equiring a defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is innocent of the charges against him will prohibit criminals from benefiting from their own bad acts, maintain respect for our criminal justice systems procedural protections, remove the harmful chilling effect on the defense bar, prevent suits from criminals who may be guilty, [but] could have gotten a better deal, and prevent a flood of nuisance litigation." Id.

(emphasis added) (quoting Falkner, 108 Wn. App. at 123-24).

Mr. Piris does not claim he was innocent of the crime for which he was sentenced or that he should not have pleaded guilty. CP 21-24. His sole complaint is that his sentence was too long and that he was in prison longer than he should have been.

His claim falls squarely within the five policy reasons that Washington courts have articulated for prohibiting a criminal who cannot prove his innocence from bringing a malpractice claim against his defense attorneys. Mr. Piris wants to be compensated because, he claims, he could have gotten a better deal.

C. Mr. Piris's claim does not fall into the limited exception recognized in *Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused*, because his sentence was well within the range the court could lawfully impose.

Mr. Piris argues that these policy concerns do not apply to him because he complains of an overlong sentence. On the contrary, his claim falls squarely within the types of claim that are disapproved of by our courts: he is a criminal who claims he should have received a lighter sentence. Therefore, his claim is prohibited under Washington law.

Further, the **narrow** exception to this rule that this court recognized in *Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused*, 131 Wn. App. at 814-15 does **not** apply to Mr. Piris's claim because Mr. Piris's original

sentence fell **within** the range the court could lawfully impose. Former RCW 9.94A.310; former RCW 9.94A.360; RCW 9A.20.021; RCWA 9A.44.073.

In *Powell*, 131 Wn. App. at 814, Mr. Powell served a sentence that exceeded the maximum sentence that could be lawfully imposed for the crime he had committed. Mr. Powell committed a gross misdemeanor, for which the maximum term of confinement was one year. *Id.* at 812. "At the sentencing hearing, Powell was erroneously sentenced for a Class C felony to 38.25 months of confinement." *Id.* "However, by the time Powell was released from prison, he had been incarcerated for over 20 months." *Id.* This court held that because Mr. Powell's "allegations of malpractice stem[med] entirely from his attorneys' failure to object to the court sentencing him to a much longer sentence than allowed by law," "the five policy-based reasons for the actual innocence requirement" did not apply to Mr. Powell's claim. *Id.* at 814.

The court cited the same policy-based reasons that were articulated in *Ang*, 154 Wn.2d at 484-85, and *Falkner*, 108 Wn. App. at 123-24:

¹ Mr. Piris also relies on *Powell v. Associated Counsel for Accused*, 125 Wn. App. 773, 106 P.3d 271 (2005) rev. granted, cause remanded, 155 Wn.2d 1024, 123 P.3d 120 (2005) ("Powell I"). Powell I was decided before the Supreme Court's decision in Ang and was remanded to this court for reconsideration after the Ang decision. The decision in Powell I was also based upon the fact that "Powell has served substantially more time than the trial court was authorized to impose for a gross misdemeanor." Id. at 777.

(1) to prohibit criminals from benefiting from their own bad acts; (2) to maintain respect for our criminal justice system's procedural protections; (3) to remove the harmful chilling effect on the defense bar; (4) to prevent lawsuits from criminals who may be guilty, but could have gotten a better deal; and (5) to prevent a flood of nuisance litigation.

Id. at 814 (citing Ang, 154 Wn.2d at 484-85, and Falkner, 108 Wn. App. at 123-24).

The *Powell* court held that none of those policy reasons applied because Mr. Powell served a sentence that **exceeded** the maximum sentence that could be **lawfully** imposed for the crime he had committed. *Id.* at 814. Therefore, Powell's lawsuit implicated none of these policy concerns. *Id.*

Powell will not benefit from his own bad act. He paid for his crime by serving the maximum prison sentence that could be lawfully imposed. His unlawful restraint beyond that period was not a consequence of his own actions.

Id. at 814 (citations omitted).

This is not a situation where the guilty criminal simply "could have gotten a better deal." Powell was entitled to be lawfully sentenced. There was no authorization for the court to issue a sentence longer than 12 months.

Id. (citations omitted).

In allowing Mr. Powell's claim to go forward, the court made it clear that it was carving out a "very limited" exception to the general rule that applied **only** where the plaintiff served a sentence that exceeded the correct maximum term. *Id.* at 814-15.

Finally, recognizing a limited exception to the rule requiring proof of actual innocence should not cause a flood of nuisance litigation. The highly unusual alleged facts of this case, whereby an alleged egregious error by defense counsel allowed a defendant to be sentenced to a term substantially longer than the maximum term allowed by statute, and the defendant actually served time in prison beyond the correct maximum term, are not likely to occur with any frequency.

Powell's case is more akin to that of an innocent person wrongfully convicted than of a guilty person attempting to take advantage of his own wrongdoing. Therefore, under the facts of this case, we adopt a very limited exception to the rule requiring proof of actual innocence in a legal malpractice case stemming from a criminal matter.

Id. at 815 (emphasis added).

In contrast, Mr. Piris's sentence here was **lawful**. His complaint is that he may have served more than 146 months. However, his sentence was not longer than the term that was allowed by statute for the crimes he committed. As of when he committed those crimes, the **standard** sentencing range was 146 to 194 months, while the maximum penalty was life imprisonment and/or a \$50,000 fine. Former RCW 9.94A.310; former RCW 9.94A.360; RCW 9A.20.021.

Rape of a Child in the First Degree is a class A felony for which the maximum penalty is life imprisonment and/or a \$50,000 fine. RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 9A.20.021. This was the maximum penalty at the time Mr. Piris committed and was sentenced for his crimes. *Id.*

Mr. Piris's case is no different from that of a guilty person who could have walked free based on a technical defense. Under Washington law, Mr. Piris must prove both post-conviction relief and actual innocence.

Ang, 154 Wn.2d at 483-84; Falkner, 108 Wn. App. at 118.

D. Mr. Piris's later re-sentencing does not bring him within the *Powell* exception.

Mr. Piris attempts to avoid this inevitable result by wrongly arguing that because the court resentenced him to 146 months in 2012 that was his "lawful" sentence; therefore, he argues, any other sentence was not lawful. However, this mis-states *Powell* which held explicitly that the plaintiff must prove his actual innocence except where the sentence served was "longer than the maximum term allowed by statute." *Id.* at 815.

Except for these narrow circumstances, Washington requires both elements: actual innocence and post-conviction relief. Mr. Piris, however, met only one of the two additional requirements, post-conviction relief.

If Mr. Piris's theory was correct, then the actual innocence requirement would rarely apply when the plaintiff obtained post-conviction relief. Thus the exception would swallow up the rule. In contrast, the court anticipated the exception would apply infrequently. *Id.* at 814-815. Mr. Piris misstates *Powell* to reach such a conclusion.

Mr. Piris also argues that collateral estoppel bars his former

attorneys from disputing that the 146 months was his lawful sentence. He cites no authority as to why his former attorneys were in privity with him in 2012. Where no authorities are cited, this court may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none. *DeHeer v. Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962). This court therefore should disregard this uncited argument. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); RAP 10.3(a)(5). Moreover, Mr. Piris's argument is beside the point because his original sentence was well below the maximum that could be imposed by law.

E. This court previously rejected the further exception that Mr. Piris urges.

This court already has refused to carve out a further exception to the "actual innocence" requirement in circumstances similar to this case.

In *Owens v. Harrison*, 120 Wn. App. at 914, the plaintiff asked this court "to carve out an exception to the innocence requirement where defense counsel fails to convey a plea offer and, as a result, the defendant receives an increased sentence." In *Owens*, Mr. Owens made a successful post-conviction challenge to a portion of his conviction. *Id.* at 913. However, his legal-malpractice claim could not survive summary judgment "because he pled guilty to two charges, and he does not claim to

be innocent," so that he could not satisfy the actual-innocence requirement. *Id.* Mr. Owens cited cases from Michigan and Ohio in which defense counsel failed to convey an offer of immunity and a plea offer, respectively. *Id.* (citing *Falkner*, 108 Wn. App. at 119 n. 11 (citing *Gebhardt v. O'Rourke*, 444 Mich. 535, 510 N.W.2d 900 (1994); *Krahn v. Kinney*, 43 Ohio St.3d 103, 538 N.E.2d 1058 (1989))). However, Michigan and Ohio do not require proof of actual innocence. *Id.* This court rejected Mr. Owens's argument and affirmed dismissal of his claim:

But the Michigan and Ohio cases did not address the public policy rationale upon which we specifically based our holding in *Falkner*. Footnote 11 simply commented on other jurisdictions' rejection of the innocence requirement, a requirement we nonetheless decide to adopt.

Owens, 120 Wn. App. at 914; see also id. at 916.

F. Out-of-state cases cited in Mallen & Smith involve sentences that exceeded the maximum allowed by law, or either did not address or did not require actual innocence.

Mr. Piris cites an alleged statement from the 2007 edition of Mallen & Smith that actual innocence is not relevant where the alleged error concerns the extent or severity of the sentence. However, that is not the law in Washington.

The 2013 edition of Mallen & Smith is not so dogmatic. Mallen & Smith, *Legal Malpractice* § 27.13 (2013). It states that guilt is "usually" not relevant. Further, the handful of cases it cites (which includes *Powell*) 5611475.doc

almost exclusively concern claims (1) where the plaintiff's additional sentence exceeded the maximum sentence that was lawfully permitted by statute; (2) where the need to prove actual innocence was not required by that state; or (3) where it was not raised as a defense. These cases therefore are readily distinguishable and indeed are not proper precedent. See Berschauer/Phillips v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 825, 881 P.2d 986 (1994) (a legal theory that merely lurks in the record lacks precedential authority). Because they are not on point and are contrary to Washington precedent, these cases lack even persuasive authority.

Thus, in *Geddie v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 354 So.2d 718, 719 (La. Ct. App.), writ denied 356 So.2d 1011 (La. 1978) the plaintiff was incarcerated under a four-year sentence for a crime which had a maximum penalty of two years. The additional confinement was illegal. *Id.* at 719; see also Paulsen v. Cochran, 356 Ill. App. 3d 354, 363, 826 N.E.2d 526 (2005). Further, Louisiana does not have an actual-innocence requirement, and plaintiff's guilt was not raised as a defense. *Geddie*, 354 So.2d at 719; Paulsen, 356 Ill. App. 3d at 362.

In *Bowdry v. Ochalla*, 605 F.Supp.2d 1009, 1010-1011 (N.D. Ill. 2009) the plaintiff alleged that he received a mandatory supervised release term of two years, the maximum that could be imposed for a Class 2 5611475.doc

felony, instead of one year, the maximum that could be imposed for a Class 3 felony for which he should have been convicted. *Id.*; 730 ILCS 5/5-8-1. Thus, the alleged malpractice involved an unlawful probationary period. Further, actual innocence was not raised as a defense, and the court did not consider Mr. Bowdry's state law claims. *Id.* at 1015. The claim was dismissed on other grounds, for lack of jurisdiction for a § 1983 claim; the court did, however, note that Mr. Bowdry suffered no damage as his arrest occurred within the first year of the supervisory release. *Id.* at 1010-11, n.1.

In *Jones v. Link*, 493 F. Supp. 2d 765, 767 (E.D. Va. 2007) the total sentence imposed also exceeded the correct sentencing range. Mr. Jones was charged with three counts; the first two ran concurrently, the third ran consecutively; the court should have applied a range of 51 to 63 months to all three counts; because it unlawfully applied a firearm enhancement, the court wrongly applied an 87 to 108 months range to the second count. *Id.* As a result, Mr. Jones was sentenced to a total of 147 months, whereas the highest sentence that could be imposed in total for the three counts was 126 months *Id.* Thus in *Jones*, unlike in this case, the erroneous sentence exceeded the lawful maximum.

In Lawson v. Nugent, 702 F. Supp. 91, 95 (D. N.J. 1988), plaintiff was permitted to present evidence of emotional distress where he claimed

increased incarceration of 20 months due to his lawyer's negligence.

Again, the issues of innocence and whether it was a preliminary requirement to a malpractice action were not raised.

Berringer v. Steele, 133 Md. App. 442, 483-484, 758 A.2d 574 (2000) and Fischer v. Longest, 99 Md. App. 368, 381, 637 A.2d 517, 524 (1994) are both Maryland cases; Maryland does not have an actual-innocence requirement. Further, in Berringer, the attorneys had failed to follow their client's instructions. Id. at 483-84, 507; see also Paulsen v. Cochran, 356 Ill. App. 3d at 363. In Fischer, the claim was dismissed on other grounds.

In *Hilario v. Reardon*, 158 N.H. 56, 66, 960 A.2d 337 (2008) the New Hampshire court expressly upheld the actual innocence requirement when "a criminal defendant claims he received a longer sentence than that which he might otherwise have obtained." As a rare exception, the court did not impose the requirement where the attorney filed a motion that upset the plea agreement without his client's instructions.

Biberdorf v. Oregon, 243 F.Supp.2d 1145 (D. Or. 2002) concerned a plaintiff's claim that he was not given credit for time in custody before trial. In Biberdorf, the actual-innocence requirement was not raised. In Stevens v. Bispham, 316 Or. 221, 239, 851 P.2d 556 (1993), the court held that to pursue a legal-malpractice claim, the plaintiff must prove he was

exonerated in post-conviction proceedings, in addition to proving duty, breach, and causation. Discussion that this might not apply to sentencing was dicta only. *Id.* at 232; *cf. id.* at 226, 239. In contrast, in *Johnson v. Babcock*, 206 Or. App. 217, 222, 224, 136 P.3d 77 (2006), the court permitted a legal-malpractice case to proceed because, as in *Powell*, the sentence exceeded the legal maximum: a 30-year sentence was imposed where the maximum permissible term was six years and eight months.

Mallen & Smith cite an unpublished case *Lanzilotti v. Greenberg*, A-1608-10T2, 2011 WL 3300155 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. Aug. 3, 2011) in which the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of Mr. Lanzilotti's legal-malpractice claim in part because he had **not** been exonerated of the crime for which he was sentenced.

Finally, Mr. Piris cites Mallen & Smith for the statement that a legal-malpractice plaintiff who complains of an excessive sentence has met his initial burden if he prove: (1) that defendant's negligence resulted in a legally impermissible sentence; and (2) that he obtained post-conviction relief. Mr. Piris, however, is able to meet only the second of these criteria.

G. Washington long ago joined the clear majority of jurisdictions that require legal-malpractice plaintiffs to prove his actual innocence in the underlying criminal matter.

Washington long ago joined the clear majority of jurisdictions that require the legal-malpractice plaintiff who was a criminal defendant to prove his actual innocence.

In legal-malpractice cases based on underlying criminal matters, the clear majority of out-of-state courts that have considered the question, like Washington, require proof of actual innocence as an additional element of proof. *Falkner*, 108 Wn. App. at 118-19; *Wiley v. Cty. of San Diego*, 19 Cal. 4th 532, 536-537, 966 P.2d 983 (1998) (citations omitted). Common to all these decisions are considerations of public policy. *Id.*; *Ang*, at 484-85. "Allowing civil recovery for convicts impermissibly shifts responsibility for the crime away from the convict." *Wiley*, 19 Cal. 4th at 537.

[I]f plaintiffs engaged in the criminal conduct they are accused of, then they alone should bear full responsibility for the consequences of their acts, including imprisonment. Any subsequent negligent conduct by a plaintiff's attorney is superseded by the greater culpability of the plaintiff's criminal conduct. Accordingly, "[t]hese cases treat a defendant attorney's negligence as not the cause of the former client's injury as a matter of law, unless the plaintiff former client proves that he did not commit the crime."

Id. at 537-38.

Regardless of the attorney's negligence, a guilty defendant's conviction and sentence are the direct consequence of his own perfidy. The fact that nonnegligent counsel "could have done better" may warrant postconviction relief, but it does not translate into civil damages, which are intended to make the plaintiff whole.

Id. at 539.

In the criminal malpractice context by contrast, a defendant's own criminal act remains the ultimate source of his predicament irrespective of counsel's subsequent negligence.

Id. at 540.

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